### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

١



OCT 21 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By.

DUSTY RAY SPENCER,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 80,987

### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 249238 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114

(904)252 - 3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged by amended information with four offenses: Count I - first degree murder of Karen Spencer (the defendant's wife) on January 18, 1992, by blunt force trauma and/or by stabbing with a knife; Count II - aggravated assault on Timothy Johnson (the defendant's wife's son) on January 18, 1992, with a knife; Count III - attempted first degree murder of Karen Spencer on January 4, 1992, by application of blunt force with a deadly weapon, an iron; Count IV - aggravated battery on January 4, 1992, by causing great bodily harm or by using a deadly weapon, an iron. (R 602-604) The defendant was arraigned on the charges and entered a plea of not guilty to them. (R 608-609)

A jury trial commenced on November 2, 1992, before the Honorable Belvin Perry, Jr., Judge of the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Orange County. (R 901-904) During the trial, the defendant objected on relevancy grounds to the admission of painters' gloves found in the defendant's car which were allegedly similar to gloves which the defendant was wearing on January 18th. (T 967-969)

The defense successfully objected to irrelevant and improper evidence concerning the fact that the victim was armed the night before the murder as she was afraid of the defendant. (T 851-869) However, the state attorney argued this matter to the jury, despite there being no evidence of it presented to the jury. (T 1040-1041) The court sustained the defendant's objection to this improper argument, but denied his motion for mistrial. (T 1041, 1088-1089)

The trial court denied the defendant's motions for judgment of acquittal. (T 1008-1009, 1014, 1017) The trial court also denied the defendant's objections to the standard jury instructions on premeditation and reasonable doubt, and refused to give requested special instructions on these matters as requested by the defendant. (R 669-710, 731-742, 1329-1330; T 415, 1017, 1089) The jury found the defendant guilty of first degree murder, aggravated assault, attempted second degree murder, and aggravated battery. (R 1081-1084) The trial court denied the defendant's motion for new trial. (R 1089, 1101)

The penalty phase of the trial was held on December 8,

1992. During the penalty phase, the state introduced, over the defendant's relevancy objections, statements of the victim concerning a fight she had had with her husband, the defendant, on December 10, 1991, and of alleged threats he had made to her on that date and again on December 11, 1991. (R 90-95, 124-125)

The court denied a requested defense instruction that the jury was permitted to consider mercy in its penalty recommendation. (R 778-781, 1396-1397) The court also denied the defendant's motion to declare the death penalty unconstitutional because of the vague aggravating circumstances of heinous, atrocious, and cruel, and cold, calculated, and premeditated, and the jury instructions thereon. (R 628-650, 657-676, 1331-1332) The court did give a modified jury instruction on the aggravating factor of cold, calculated, and premeditated, defining those terms for the jury. (R 424) The jury recommended by a vote of seven to five that the defendant be sentenced to death for the first degree murder. (R 1148)

Following the denial of the defendant's motion for a new penalty phase, and additional argument, the court sentenced the defendant to death. In so doing, the court found the existence of three aggravating circumstances: (b) previous convictions of felonies involving the use or threat of violence, towit: the contemporaneous convictions of attempted second degree murder and aggravated battery stemming from the January 4th incident, and aggravated assault to the victim's son on January 18th; (h) heinous, atrocious, and cruel; and (i) cold, calculat-

ed, or premeditated, although the court did find that reasonable jurists could differ on the finding of this circumstance. (R 1231-1236, 1243) The court rejected all of the statutory mitigating factors, including circumstance (b) that the defendant suffered from extreme mental or emotion disturbance, and mitigator (f) that the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired, despite recognizing that the expert testimony was undisputed regarding the existence of these mitigating factors. (R 1237-1241) The court rejected these factors, finding that the defendant knew right from wrong. (R 1239, 1241) The court did find the existence of a single non-statutory mitigating factor, listing the defendant's alcohol and drug abuse, his paranoid personality disorder, the fact that the defendant was sexually abused as a child by his father, the defendant's honorable military service record, his good employment record and reputation with his painting company, and the fact that the defendant could live in a structured prison environment, that does not contain women, without being dangerous. (R 1242) The court found "this [singular] mitigating factor to be present, but [gave] it very little weight." (R 1242) The court ruled that the aggravating factors it had found greatly outweighed the one non-statutory mitigating factor, ruling that death was the appropriate sentence (even without the aggravator of CCP). (R 1242-1243)

The court also sentenced the defendant on the remaining

counts to five years on Count II (aggravated assault), fifteen years on Count III (attempted second degree murder), and fifteen years on Count IV (aggravated battery), all of the sentences to run consecutively for a total of thirty-five years. (R 1243, 1252-1257) As his reason for the guidelines departure from a recommended sentence of twelve to seventeen years (or a permitted range of seven to twenty-two years), the court listed the unscored capital crime of first degree murder. (R 1243, 1248-1249)

A notice of appeal was timely filed. (R 1261) This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Dusty Ray Spencer and Karen Johnson fell in love and were married. (T 452) For Dusty, it was his second marriage; his first ending in divorce and bankruptcy for Dusty. (R 231) Karen Spencer became a partner in Dusty's painting business, handling most of the financial aspects of the business. (T 902-903, 920) Working together, the business thrived and the couple purchased a boat which they named "Dusty's Dream" and which they kept moored in Daytona Beach. (T 553) They would often go to Daytona on weekends and go out boating together. (T 553)

Then, in early December 1991, Karen went to Daytona by herself for the weekend. When she returned, she told Dusty their marriage was over and kicked him out of the house. (T 453, 552) The state introduced evidence in the penalty phase of the trial, over the defendant's objections on hearsay and relevancy grounds and because of the remoteness of time, that on December 10, 1991, the defendant confronted Karen over \$3300 which she had withdrawn from the business account. (R 125, 183) The couple got in a fight over the money, which culminated in Dusty choking Karen and making her promise to replace the money or he would kill her. (R 125-127) After Karen reported the incident to the police, Dusty was arrested and jailed. (R 127) On December 11, 1991, Karen Spencer telephoned the police and reported that she had received a phone call from her husband in jail, who reportedly told her that when he got out of jail, he would finish what he started. (R 128, 132, 133-134)

When the holiday season approached, Karen asked Dusty to return home. (T 453, 552) [It appears that Karen's parents were to visit over Christmas, and she did not want them to know that she and Dusty were separated. (R 552)] Dusty, thinking his marital problems were over, moved back home, purchased Christmas presents for his wife and her teenage son, Tim, and had Christmas dinner with his in-laws. (T 453, 552-553) Then, after Christmas was over and Karen's parents left town, Karen again kicked Dusty out of the house. (T 453, 552-553)

Dusty again was heart-broken and feared that Karen would do what his first wife had done, take his business away from him and ruin him financially. (R 179, 231) While drinking with his friends on New Year's Day, Dusty reportedly said that he should take his wife out on their boat and throw her overboard. (T 913-915, 925-926) The friends who heard this statement, including a friend of Karen's, did not take this statement seriously at all and, hence, did not report it to Karen or to the police. (T 915, 926)

According to psychologists, Dusty became extremely paranoid and stressed out over his failed relationship. (R 163-164, 167-169, 177, 179, 189-191, 245-247, 344, 377) He returned home on January 4, 1992, and got into a fight with Karen in her bedroom. (T 462) He struck Karen several times with his hands as they struggled. (T 462) Tim was awakened by the noise and went into his mother's room, where he saw the defendant on top of his mother, hitting her with his hands. (T 462-463) When he told

Dusty to stop, Dusty picked up a clothes iron from Karen's shelf and struck Tim in the head with it. (T 463, 539, 560) Tim retreated to his own bedroom where he was followed by Dusty, who struck him several more times with the iron. (T 464-465, 539) Dusty dropped the iron and returned to his wife's bedroom, but she had already fled the house to a neighbor's. (T 466, 540-541)

At the neighbor's house, Karen requested help, saying that Dusty had beaten her up and was beating Tim with an iron; she did not indicate that Dusty had ever hit her with the iron. (T 569-571, 586, 599) The neighbor called the police and went to the Spencer house, only to see Dusty leaving and that Tim was left alone. (T 467-468, 572-575, 587)

Tim and Karen were taken to the hospital where they were treated for their injuries. (T 469, 641-642) The treating physician testified, over a hearsay objection, that Karen had told him that she had been beaten with the iron. (T 648) (This is the only testimony about Karen being hit with an iron.)

Dusty left town after the incident, to return only on January 17th or 18th. (R 364-365, 368) A neighbor testified that he observed the defendant on the morning of January 17th, parked down the street from the Spencer house, watching his house. (T 775-777) The neighbor indicated that the defendant appeared to have an angry look on his face, "like something had went wrong." (T 777; R 217-218) The defendant stayed there for a short while, then drove off. (T 778-781)

On the morning of January 18, 1992, shortly before the

painters were scheduled to arrive at the Spencer house to get their paints and assignments for the day, Dusty Spencer went to his house to procure the title to his automobile. (T 456, 903, 917-918, 921-922; R 207-208) Even though he had lived in the house for almost three years, Dusty wore disposable painter's gloves in case his wife was not home and he had to break into the house to obtain his car title. (T 501-502; R 212, 369)

Dusty's wife was home, though, and the kitchen area showed signs of a struggle. (T 665-666; R 208) Tim, hearing the commotion, awoke, grabbed Dusty's rifle from his mother's bedroom, and found his mother and Dusty in the back yard. (T 472, 478-479, 542) He testified that he saw the defendant striking Karen Spencer with a brick (although the medical examiner testified that there were no signs of any injuries caused by a brick) and observed a lot of blood on Karen's face. (T 479-481, 483, 750) Tim tried to shoot the defendant. (T 497, 542) When the rifle misfired, Tim turned it around and struck the defendant three times in the head with the rifle butt with such force as to cause the stock to shatter. (T 481, 497, 542-543)

When the defendant regained his composure from being struck, Tim then observed the defendant push Karen's head into the concrete wall of the house. (T 481-482, 543-544) Tim testified that the defendant then pulled up his mother's nightgown and told Karen to show your child "your pussy." (T 481) Tim then ran to his mother's side, who was unconscious, and attempted to carry her off. (T 492, 547) Tim testified that Dusty pulled a knife

from his pocket and pointed it at Tim. (T 484, 492) Tim never saw Dusty stab his mother with the knife. (T 548) Tim then ran to neighbors' houses to summon aid and attempt to find another gun. (T 498-500, 502-504, 589-590, 595-596)

When the police arrived they found Karen Spencer dead, having been stabbed three times, cut on the face and arms (defensive wounds, in the medical examiner's opinion), and having blunt trauma to the back of her head. (T 659-662, 678-681, 726-739) The medical examiner testified that the stab wounds to the chest and the blunt force trauma to the back of the head both would have caused death. (T 742-743) He opined that the victim would have lost consciousness very quickly after the trauma to the head. (T 749, 754) He also testified that he could not be sure of the sequence of the injuries, but that if, as Tim had testified, there was a lot of blood on the victim's face when Tim first saw her, the knife injuries to the face must already have occurred since there were no other injuries to the face and head that would have caused the bleeding on her face as Tim had recounted. (T 726-730, 749-750; R 104-105)

During the penalty phase of the trial, the psychologists revealed what Dusty had told them he remembered about the event. Dusty went to his former home to find the car title and he and his wife got into an argument and a struggle ensued. (R 207-208, 369-370) The struggle continued out into the back yard, where Karen grabbed a landscaping brick and started hitting Dusty. (R 208, 370-371) Dusty wrestled the brick from Karen,

when Tim appeared on the scene and struck him repeatedly with the rifle stock. (R 371) After being struck, the defendant did not recall any further events until seeing Karen laying on the ground, apparently dead. (R 208-209, 356, 371) The psychologists believed that Dusty's amnesia concerning the event was genuine. (R 378-381)

The psychologists also opined that the defendant suffered from alcohol and drug abuse which definitely contributed to the crime and the method of the crime, was normally a very controlled and emotionally isolated person, who, after experiencing great stress, such as the breakup of his marriage, could lose control of his bottled up emotions and go into a violent rage. (R 163-164, 167-169, 173, 175, 177, 192, 197, 213-215, 246-247, 340-344, 346-355, 360, 372) The psychologists offered the unrefuted opinion that Dusty Spencer was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murder, and was unable, because of the severe stress and alcohol abuse, to "appreciate the wrongfulness of his actions, which occurred in a disassociative state," and was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. (R 177-179, 204-205, 355-356)

Regarding the prior incidents of threats of harm on December 10-11, 1991, and January 1, 1992, a psychologist stated that this was indicative of his uncontrolled state, wherein Dusty did not understand the impact of his threats; they were not meant to be taken seriously, but were mere fantasizing and just expressions of the defendant's displeasure. (R 360-364) Concerning the

acts of bringing gloves to the scene and parking his car away from the house, the doctors stated that this was not indicative of a heightened plan, because the defendant was not able to think out his actions rationally. (R 209, 373-374) As one doctor put it, "This boy is confused." (R 373) Concerning the brutality of the injuries, the doctor again opined that this was due to the defendant's mental impairment, that he lost control and the ability to control his actions. (R 205) The doctors testified that the defendant would be able to function well in the controlled environment of a prison, since his emotional problems and stress only surrounded his failed relationships with women. (R 218, 231)

Evidence presented in the penalty phase of the trial also revealed that the defendant had a troubled childhood, being emotionally abused and forced to wear a dress because he was not toilet trained, and being masturbated by his father. (R 172-174, 283-284, 288) The defendant also had a severe alcohol and drug problem starting when he was thirteen years old. (R 293-295, 299-300, 302-307, 310-311, 315-316, 345-355) While not being legally intoxicated at the time of the offense, the continuing effect of the alcoholism would have led to his loss of control. (R 348-355)

The defendant served his country in the Marines, and performed admirably as a leader of his squad in rescue operations. (R 313-315) On another occasion, Dusty assisted in saving an acquaintance's life when there was an accident which caused the friend severe life-threatening head injuries. (R 327-331)

Evidence also revealed that the defendant was a hard worker and extremely conscientious about his painting business, which had an excellent reputation, and feared that Karen was trying to take his business away from him. (R 190-191, 318-319, 324-325)

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I. The state failed to present testimony establishing beyond a reasonable doubt that the killing here was premeditated. Rather, the evidence shows that the killing resulted from a domestic dispute, whereby the defendant, in a fit of rage and passion, killed his wife. Thus, the evidence, as a matter of law, only establishes second degree murder. The trial court should have granted the defendant's motions for judgment of acquittal.

<u>Point II</u>. The charges contained in the first two counts were completely separate from the charges contained in the second two counts. The trial court erred in denying the motion to sever those counts.

Point III. The trial court committed reversible error by refusing the defendant's requested instruction on premeditation and by giving the erroneous standard instruction on reasonable doubt. The standard instruction on premeditation was inadequate in the instant case and the requested instruction was a correct statement of the law which would have correctly guided the jury in its deliberations on Count I.

Point IV. The state attorney improperly commented, during argument to the jury, on matters not in evidence (which had been correctly excluded by the trial court), which matters were irrelevant as relating to the victim's state of mind and were highly inflammatory.

<u>Point V</u>. The trial court erroneously allowed the state

to introduce evidence at the penalty phase of the trial of hearsay statements of the victim to police regarding a December 10 and 11, 1991, incident. The hearsay statements deprived the defendant of his right to confrontation. Further, the alleged incident was too remote in time to be relevant to the aggravating factor of cold, calculated, and premeditated, especially since the victim invited the defendant back to live in their marital home between December 10th and the killing.

Point VI. The trial court erred in making its findings of fact in support of the death sentence where the findings were insufficient, where the court failed to consider appropriate mitigating factors, where the court erroneously found inappropriate aggravating circumstances, and where a comparison to other capital cases reveals that the only appropriate sentence in the instant case is a life sentence.

<u>Point VII</u>. Section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1991), is unconstitutional for a variety of reasons.

#### ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL WHERE THE EVIDENCE SURROUNDING THE DOMESTIC KILLING WAS INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO ESTABLISH PREMEDITA-TION.

According to the undisputed facts in the case, the killing resulted from domestic difficulties between the defendant and his wife, who had kicked him out of the house, following her weekend alone on their boat in Daytona Beach. The defendant went to the marital home at a time when other painters were scheduled to be arriving, and there were signs of a struggle in the kitchen which ultimately led outside the house to the back yard, where the victim's son tried to intervene by striking the defendant repeatedly with a rifle. The injuries to the victim are consistent with an attack while in a violent rage. The evidence fails to establish premeditation beyond a reasonable doubt.

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