IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By-Chief Deputy Clerk

SID J. WHITE

JAN 26 1994

•

DUSTY RAY SPENCER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 80,987

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAN HAUN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #694370 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The motion for judgement of acquittal is not properly preserved. Even if this issue is properly preserved, then there is competent, substantial evidence to support the jury verdict. The jury simply rejected the defendant's hypothesis. The state produced sufficient evidence of appellant's premeditation. Spencer parked his car away from Karen's, the victim, house, he wore gloves, and brought the murder weapon with him. Further, Spencer was stopped in his attack by Timothy Johnson, but he resumed the attack.

II. The appellant has failed to show the trial court abused its discretion in not severing the charges. All four of the charges are episodically connected. Even if the trial court erred in not granting the motion to sever, the joinder did not cause actual prejudice by having a damaging effect or influence on the jury's verdict.

III. The trial court properly used the standard jury instructions on premeditation and reasonable doubt. The trial court followed the substance of <u>McCutchen v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, in the premeditation instruction. Further, <u>Brown v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>, held that the standard reasonable doubt instruction was proper.

The appellant's trial counsel failed to properly preserve IV. this issue at trial. The counsel objected to the prosecutor's comment, which the trial court sustained, however, counsel did not ask for a curative instruction. Even if this issue is committed was no so prejudicial and preserved, the error denied the appellant it а fair trial. fundamental that

Furthermore, the appellant has failed to show under Lopez, infra, that a new trial is appropriate. Finally, the prosecutor's statement was rendered harmless considering the overwhelming amount of evidence of guilt.

V. The trial court relied upon other statements than what the apppellant alleges in his brief. This testimony was an exception to hearsay either under the then existing state of mind or under the res gestae exception. Even if this court determines that this testimony was hearsay, that is allowed under the statute, and case law. Finally, the trial court did two weighings in this case one with this aggravator, and one without it, and in both cases, determined death was the proper penalty. Even if there were error, it was harmless and did not result in prejudice to the appellant's case requiring a new sentencing.

VI. The trial court listened to the expert testimony presented by the appellant's witnesses. The trial court set out the pertinent testimony in its sentencing order. However, the trial court rejected their testimony. The experts based their findings on "mere speculation" and there was substantial evidence which contradicted there testimony. The appellant went to Karen's house that morning parked his car away to avoid detection. Spencer wore gloves to avoid detection. Spencer brought the murder weapon with him. All this shows that the trial court could have found the aggravating factor of cold, calculated, and premeditated. The trial court may accept or reject the testimony of an expert witness just like any other witness. Relying upon the facts already stated the appellee would submit that Spencer

- 18 -

had a well thought out plan to kill Karen, his wife. He may have been going through some emotions, but this was not a crime of passion. Spencer's actions do not fit into the line of cases where this court has determined that in a husband and wife killing this aggravator should not be found. The appellant argues that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator should not be found in this case. However, the murder itself was committed to torture Karen. Karen was beaten, she had her head slammed against a wall, she was cut in five places on her face with a knife, she had defense wounds, she was stabbed in the chest area. During the murder, Timothy Johnson tried to stop Spencer, however, Spencer picked up Karen's gown, and said, "show your pussy to your boy". Karen responded "don't Dusty". Karen Spencer went through fear and humiliation, and torture as she was killed. The appellant further argues that the trial court rejected unrefutted testimony of statutory mitigators. The appellee would submit that there was plenty of evidence that contradicted the experts. The trial court in its sentencing order found that these experts had given conclusions not facts. The experts had based their opinions on "mere speculaltion". The trial court followed the criteria set forth in Campbell. The trial court did not base its finding, as the appellant asserts, only on the fact that the appellant could differentiate between right and wrong. This was one of the considerations which is proper under Ponticelli. The trial court can reject or accept the testimony of experts just like any other witness. Finally, the decision as to whether a mitigating factor has been

established is within the trial court's discretion. Reversal is not warranted simply because an appellant draws a different The trial court considered Spencer's drug and conclusion. The trial court listed it as a nonstatutory alcohol abuse. mitigator, but gave it very little weight. Just because the trial court did not find it as the basis for a statutory mitigating factor, does not require reversal. The decision as to whether a mitigating circumstance has been established, and if established, the weight afforded it is within the trial court's discretion. The appellant next argues that the trial court listed several aspects of the appellant's character, but did not give them appropriate weight. Additionally, because they were lumped together in one factor the court failed to properly weigh court listed each nonstatutory factor in its them. The sentencing order. The appellant is arguing over a matter of The trial court considered these factors and gave semantics. them very little weight. The decision concerning the weight to give a mitigating factor is within the trial court's discretion. Even if there were error, it would be harmless in light of the strong aggravating factors found in this case.

VII. The various attacks now raised on the constitutionality of section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1991), and the jury instructions were either not raised below and are procedurally barred, or such claims have previously been rejected and are without merit.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL.

The appellant argues that the trial court erred in denying his motions for judgment of acquittal because the evidence surrounding the killing was insufficient as a matter of law to establish premeditation.

This issue is not properly preserved. The appellant at trial based his motion for a judgment of acquital on the failure of the State to present a prima facie case. (T 1008,1014) Now, he is arguing that as a matter of law the trial court should have granted his motion for judgment of acquital. The purpose for a contemporaneous objection at the trial court is to allow the judge to review the particular objection and rule appropriately. The trial court never had the opportunity to rule on this issue. Where a motion for judgment of acquital is made on one ground and different grounds are argued on appeal, the issue of sufficiency of the evidence based on the new grounds has not been preserved for appellate review. Johnson v. State, 478 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); Estrada v. State, 400 So. 2d 562 (Fla. 1982)(argument presented for first time on appeal not preserved for appellate review); Rosemond v. State, 489 So. 2d 1185 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

Even if this issue was preserved for appeal, there is competent, substantial evidence to support the jury verdict. The following facts may shed additional light on this issue. On January 4, 1992, Timothy Johnson, Karen Spencer's son, was awakened by the screams of his mother. (T 462) He went into her

bedroom where he saw Spencer hitting her. (T 463) Spencer then grabbed an iron and began hitting Timothy with it. (T 463) Timothy retreated to his own bedroom. (T 465) Spencer came into Timothy's bedroom and said, "your mother fucked up my life, now I'm going to fuck her up". (T 465-466) Timothy tried to call the police from his room, but Spencer yanked the phone out of the wall. (T 470) Spencer told Timothy in his bedroom, "you're next, you're next, I don't want any witnesses". (T 558) Karen Spencer ran to a neighbor's house to seek help. (T 568) She told Mr. Elmore that Timothy was still back at the house with Spencer. (T 571) Although Mr. Elmore did not remember Karen's exact words, he remembered that she said Spencer had used the word "kill". (T 585) Deputy Weyland investigated the crime and found blood on Karen Spencer's bed, the comforter, and blood on the foot of the bed. (T 624)

Dr. Bowman was the doctor at the emergency room who treated Karen Spencer. Karen told Dr. Bowman that she was beaten with an iron. (T 648) Dr. Bowman testified that her injuries were consistent with having been beaten with an iron. (T 648)

Timothy Johnson was awakened on January 18, 1992 again by the screams of his mother. (T 478) When Timothy saw his mother, she had blood on her face. (T 481) Spencer told him that his mother had fucked up his life. (T 481) Spencer lifted up Karen's nightgown and said, "here, show your boy your pussy", and then he slapped her head against the wall. (T 481) Karen asked Spencer to stop. (T 482) At the time Spencer was hitting the back of Karen's head against the wall, her face was full of

- 22 -

blood. (T 483) Spencer pulled a steak knife out of his back pocket. (T 484,485) He was wearing gloves. Timothy had never seen him wear gloves in three years. (T 549)

Dr. Anderson, the medical examiner for District 9 in Florida, testified that the wounds to Karen Spencer's face were consistent with a sharp force injury, from a knife. (T 728) The injuries to the back of her head were consistent with her head having been hit against a wall. (T 732) There was a stab wound of the lateral aspect of the right breast area. (T 735) She had defensive wounds on her right arm. (T 738) In Dr. Anderson's opinion, all the wounds occurred during the time she was alive. (T 745)

Mr. Smith was a neighbor of Karen Spencer. (T 771) On the morning before Karen was murdered, Mr. Smith noticed Spencer drive up in his car. (T 776) He parked along side the curb in front of Mr. Smith's house. (T 776) He looked at Mr. Smith, then he looked down towards his house. (T 777)

Mr. Abrams worked for Spencer in the painting business. (T 903) During the time Spencer and Karen were living apart, Spencer turned over a briefcase to Mr. Abrams. (T 904) In the briefcase were papers concerning the business. (T 904) As Spencer turned over the briefcase, he told Mr. Abrams, "you are going to run the show now". (T 906) Mr. Abrams also testified to a statement that Spencer made on January 1, 1992, that, "he would like to take her out of the boat, and throw 'her' overboard," referring to Karen Spencer. (T 914) On January 3, 1992, Spencer told Mr. Abrams that, "she said that she would

- 23 -

never go out in the boat again, or 'she' didn't want to go out in the boat again again, referring to Karen Spencer. (T 915)

Deputy McCann, of the Orange County Sheriff's Office, testified that they found Spencer's car hidden in a wooded area with palm fronds on it. (T 951)

When moving for judgment of acquittal a defendant admits the facts adduced at trial, as well as every conclusion which may be inferred from the evidence which is favorable to the state. <u>State v. Law</u>, 559 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 1989). A judgment of acquittal should be granted only if the state fails to produce evidence from which the jury could exclude every reasonable hypothesis except that of guilt. <u>Id</u>. Where the state produced competent, substantial evidence from which the jury could have reasonably rejected the defendant's hypothesis of innocence, the judgment of acquittal should be denied. Id.

> The state is not required to "rebut conclusively every possible variation" (footnote omitted) of events which could be inferred from the evidence which is consistent with the defendant's theory of events. (citations omitted).

Id. at 189.

The concern on appeal is whether, after all conflicts in the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence have been resolved in favor of the verdict, there is competent substantial evidence to support the verdict and judgment. <u>Holton</u> v. State, 573 So. 2d 284, 289 (Fla. 1990).

The appellee would submit that the State produced competent, substantial evidence from which the jury could have

reasonably rejected the appellant's theory. The appellant would have us believe that in a blind rage he killed Karen Spencer. However, all the evidence shows a well thought out plan to murder her in cold blood. When Spencer attacked Karen Spencer on January 4, 1992, the attack was stopped by the entry into the bedroom of Timothy Johnson. Spencer stated to Timothy that he did not want to leave any witnesses. Spencer was hitting Timothy with the iron on his face. Additionally, Spencer ripped the phone out of the wall as Timothy Johnson was trying to make a phone call for help. The appellee would argue that this attack was stopped because Karen Spencer was able to get out of the house and go for help. Spencer was not so out of control that he did not realize that if he killed Timothy Johnson there would be witnesses.

Spencer was thinking about killing Karen Spencer on January 1, 1992, when he told Mr. Abrams, that, "he would like to take her out on the boat and throw her overboard". (T 914) He was still thinking about killing her on January 3, 1992, when he told Mr. Abrams, "she said that she would never go out in the boat again, or she didn't never want to go out in the boat again". (T 915)

Circumstances which show the appellant's intentions were the fact that he parked the car away from the house the day of the murder. He did not want neighbors identifying his car at the scene. Spencer wore gloves to the house the day of the murder. He also carried a steak knife in his pocket. This murder was not committed, as the appellant indicates, as the result of a

- 25 -

spontaneous, blind and unreasoning reaction to the circumstances leading up to the murder. Rather, Spencer, remembering how his first wife left him bankrupt, was going to get even with Karen Spencer. He was going to make her pay for taking his painting The brutal manner in which the murder was committed business. was indicative of his intent to make Karen Spencer suffer for what she had done to him. He meant to make her feel pain that day. Spencer slashed her face with a knife; slammed her head against a wall; stabbed her in the chest area; and she received defense wounds trying to protect herself. Spencer lifted Karen's nightgown, telling her to "show her boy her pussy". Spencer meant to humilate and make Karen Spencer pay for "fucking up his life",

The appellant cites <u>Hoefert v. State</u>, 617 So. 2d 1046 (Fla. 1993). In that case this Court found the following facts:

Hunt accompanied Hoefert to his apartment several days later; the of Hunt's cause death was asphyxiation; Hoefert had strangled several other women while either raping or assaulting them; and Hoefert attempted to conceal his crime by failing to report Hunt's death to the authorities, by digging a large hole in his yard where he planned to bury Hunt's body, and by fleeing to Texas.

Id. at 1049

In the instant case the evidence shows premeditation. There was nothing spontaneous about this murder. Spencer had been thinking about killing his wife for a number of days. He did not just accidentally wear gloves the day of the murder. He did not just accidentally park his car away from the house the day of the murder. He did not just accidentally have a steak knife in his pocket the day of the murder. The evidence in this case is much stronger for premeditation. Most of the evidence in <u>Hoefert</u> is circumstantial. In the instant case, however, Timothy Johnson saw first hand the gloves, the steak knife, and saw part of the attack upon his mother. Timothy also heard Spencer's remark "show your boy your pussy", and his mother's response to "stop". The evidence presented is inconsistent with the appellant's theory of the case, and the trial court properly denied his motion for judgment of acquittal.

In <u>Ross v. State</u>, 474 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 1985), the evidence revealed that the defendant was angry with the victim, his wife, and that he brutally beat her about the face, head, torso, and extremities, with fist, feet, and an unknown blunt instrument while she attempted to defend herself. This Court found the record contained sufficient evidence from which the jury could have rationally inferred the existence of premeditation.

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